Public Document Pack

AGENDA
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Wednesday 23 June 2021 at 10.30 am
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS

Members:

Councillor Bland (Chairman), Councillors Backhouse (Vice-Chairman), Atwood,
Dr Hall, Hamilton, Funnell, Poile, Pound, Warne, Hills, Goodship, Fitzsimmons,
Patterson and Pope

Quorum:

5 Members

1

Chairman's Introduction (Pages 5 - 6)
Announcement on procedural matters.

2

Apologies (Pages 7 - 8)
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting.

3

Declarations of Interest (Pages 9 - 10)
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda.

4

Declarations of Lobbying (in accordance with the Protocol for Members taking part in
the Planning Process, Part 5, Section 5.11, Paragraph 6.6) (Pages 11 - 12)
If a Member has been lobbied in connection with any application on the agenda, this should
be declared at the start of the meeting, whether by, or in support of, the applicant or
objectors.
Members in doubt about such a declaration are advised to contact the Legal Services
Manager/Monitoring Officer before the date of the meeting.

5

Notification of Persons Wishing To Speak (Pages 13 - 14)

6

Site Inspections (Pages 15 - 16)
To note the application sites visited, as recorded at the meeting.

7

Reports of Head of Planning Services (attached) (Pages 17 - 18)
The running order of the applications listed below is subject to change and will be agreed by
the Chairman and announced at the meeting.
(A)

Application for Consideration - 21/00848/FULL Breakstones, Speldhurst Road, Langton
Green, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN3 0JL (Pages 19 - 28)

Page 1

(B)

Application for Consideration - 21/00797/FULL Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells NHS
Trust, The Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Tonbridge Road, Pembury, Tunbridge Wells,
Kent, TN2 4QJ (Pages 29 - 64)

8

Appeal Decisions for Noting 22/05/2021 to 14/06/2021 (Pages 65 - 68)

9

Urgent Business (Pages 69 - 70)
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be
stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

10

Date of Next Meeting (Pages 71 - 72)
The next Planning Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 21st July 2021.

Democratic Services Team

Town Hall
ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS
Kent TN1 1RS
Tel: (01892) 554413

Committee@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk
mod.gov app – go paperless

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!.
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp for details.

Page 2

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am
and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way. After 5pm,
access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road,
except for disabled access which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance
in Monson Way
Notes on Procedure
(1)

A list of background papers appears within each report, where appropriate, pursuant to
the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i).

(2)

Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the
appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting.

(3)

Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic
Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting. Public places are
limited to a maximum of four objectors and four supporters. The deadline for registering
to speak is 4.00 pm the last working day before the meeting. Each speaker will be given a
maximum of 3 minutes to address the Committee.

(4)

All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt information is
being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or part of a meeting is not
open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum public capacity as follows:
Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10.

(5)

Please note that the public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made
available for playback on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third
party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being
considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the
Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third
party recordings.
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from
Democratic Services.

If you require this information in another format
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email
committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk
Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair accessible lift
by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the committee rooms are
situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a
platform chairlift in the foyer.
Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A and B
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council Chamber also
has a fully equipped audio-visual system.

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1

Chairman’s Introduction
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
Announcement on procedural matters.

Page

1 of 1

Page 5

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Chairman’s Introduction

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Apologies for Absence
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
Apologies for absence reported at the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 7

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Apologies for Absence

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Declarations of Interest
For Planning Committee on 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance
with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please
contact the Monitoring Officer before the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 9

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Declarations of Interest

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Declaration of Lobbying (in accordance
with the Protocol for Members taking
part in the Planning Process, Part 5,
Section 5.11, Paragraph 6.6)
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
If a Member has been lobbied in connection with any application on the agenda, this should
be declared at the start of the meeting, whether by, or in support of, the applicant or
objectors.

Members in doubt about such a declaration are advised to contact Legal Services
Offices/Monitoring Officer before the date of the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 11

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Notification of Persons Registered to Speak

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Notification of Persons Registered to
Speak
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
To note any Visiting Members or members of the public wishing to speak, of which due
notice has been given in accordance with Council Procedure 3 of the Planning Committee
Procedure Rules and which item(s) they wish to speak on.

Information for members of the public wishing to speak.
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and those wishing to comment on an
agenda item will need to register with Democratic Services in advance. Registration opens
when the agenda is published and closes at 4pm on the last working day before the meeting.
The number of speakers per planning application are as follows:
-

A maximum of 4 objectors.
A maximum of 4 supporters.
A Parish/Town representative.
Borough or ward members who are not also Committee Members.

A maximum of 3 minutes is permitted per speaker.
Once registered, speakers may submit their comments in writing to Democratic Services no
later than 4pm on the last working day before the meeting. Your comments will then be read
during the meeting by an independent officer.
If you would like to attend the meeting in person, once registered, further instructions will be
sent.

Page

1 of 1

Page 13

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Notification of Persons Registered to Speak

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Site Inspections
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
To note the application site visits, as recorded at the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 15

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Site Inspections

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Reports of Head of Planning Services
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
The running order of the applications listed below is subject to change and will be agreed by
the Chairman and announced at the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Reports of Head of Planning Services

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
REPORT SUMMARY
REFERENCE NO - 21/00848/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Removal of existing 1.8m (6ft) high closeboarded fence, and erection of new 2.4m (8ft)
closeboarded fence on North boundary of property
ADDRESS Breakstones Speldhurst Road Langton Green Tunbridge Wells Kent TN3 0JL
RECOMMENDATION to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions (please refer to
section 11.0 of the report for full recommendation)
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The proposal would not result in significant harm to residential amenity
The proposal would not result in significant harm to visual amenity
INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSAL
The following are considered to be material to the application:
Contributions (to be secured through Section 106 legal agreement/unilateral
undertaking):
Net increase in numbers of jobs: N/A
Estimated average annual workplace salary spend in Borough through net increase in
numbers of jobs: N/A
The following are not considered to be material to the application:
Estimated annual council tax benefit for Borough N/A
Estimated annual council tax benefit total N/A
Estimated annual business rates benefits for Borough N/A
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
The applicants are related to a Councillor
WARD Speldhurst &
Bidborough

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL
Speldhurst Parish Council

APPLICANT Mrs Penelope
Atwood
AGENT

DECISION DUE DATE

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE

09/06/21

21/05/21

29/04/21

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):
App.No
Proposal
Decision
Date
01/01519/TPO
Trees - 2 no. YEW - raise crowns
Granted
29/08/01
83/00455/FUL
Rebuilding of garage block to form dwelling for
Granted
05/07/83
granny annexe & garage.
88/00968/FUL
Renewal - Rebuilding of garage block to form
Granted
27/07/88
granny annexe and double garage.
15/501074/FULL Single-storey side extension with pitched roof,
Granted
12/05/15
Juliet balcony and a dormer window with internal
and external alterations

Page 19

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
17/00504/TPO
18/03564/FULL

Yew tree - Raise crown by two to three metres
Demolition of two sheds and the erection of
detached garage

Granted
Granted

22/03/17
14/01/19

MAIN REPORT
1.0

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01

This site consists of a two-storey detached dwellinghouse that is located fairly
centrally within the plot with the garden extending to the east and west of the house.

1.02

This site is accessed via a single car width private access road from Speldhurst
Road, which serves a number of dwellings and has pedestrian links to Langholme
Road. This access road forms part of Public Right of Way WT88.

1.03

Immediately to the north of Breakstones is a converted oast (The Oast House) and
this shares a vehicular access from the private road that runs to the west of
Breakstones.

1.04

The northern boundary of this property is shared with The Oast House and this
currently comprises a close-boarded fence, although this is not in a good condition.
Immediately adjacent to this shared boundary, within the garden of The Oast House
and close to the Oast itself, is a parking area for this dwelling and the remaining
garden area adjacent to this boundary contains a vegetable garden and a
greenhouse/shed.

2.0

PROPOSAL

2.01

This application seeks consent for the replacement of the existing close-boarded
fence on the northern boundary with a close-boarded fence of a height of 2.4 metres.
It is intended that the proposed fence will be on the same alignment as the existing.

3.0

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Max height

4.0

Proposed
2.4 metres

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
• Inside Limits to Built Development
• Outside Langton Green Conservation Area (Extension) - Boundary runs along
south (front) curtilage of dwelling (statutory duty to preserve or enhance the
significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed Buildings &
Conservation Areas) Act 1990)
• Potentially Contaminated Land + 50M Buffer - Various Sites
• Tree Preservation Order 005/2003 (The Oast House) – northeast corner of rear
garden
• Public Right of Way WT88 – runs along private access road from Langholm Road
• Ashdown Forest Ashdown Forest 15 Km Habitat Regulation Assessment Zone
• Ashdown Forest Within 7-9km Zone Of Influence For Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA
• Biodiversity Opportunity Areas
• Public Access Land - East Side Of Speldhurst Road, Langton Green
• Public Access Land - Village Green, Langton Green

Page 20

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
5.0

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy (CS) (2010):
• Core Policy 4: Environment
• Core Policy 5: Sustainable Design and Construction
• Core Policy 14: Development in the Villages and Rural Areas
Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan (LP) (2006)
• Policy EN1: Development Control Criteria
Supplementary Planning Documents:
• Tunbridge Wells Borough Conservation Area Appraisal

6.0

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.01

A Site Notice was displayed at the entrance to Breakstones on 29 April 2021. The
application was also advertised in a local newspaper on 30 April 2021.

6.02

The following comments have been received from the neighbour at The Oast House.
• Both parties agree that an 8ft-fence would be too high and that a 6ft-fence is
probably not tall enough.
• A 7ft-fence would be more acceptable but these are a non-standard size that
would need to be made to order and incur extra costs.
• If an affordable solution for a 7ft-fence cannot be found it is preferable that the
fence is replaced with a an 8ft-fence than not at all.

7.0

CONSULTATIONS
Speldhurst Parish Council
(21/05/21) Object on the basis that a 2.4m fence is excessive in these circumstances
and could set a very unwelcome precedent in the rural environment. Replacement
should be like-for-like height, so 1.8m maximum.

7.01

7.02

7.03

Conservation Officer
(28/04/21) Breakstones and the Oast House form the remains of a large 19th century
farmstead. Breakstones shows a separate curtilage along the line of the existing
fence by the 1959-1969 OS map range. There are no listed buildings nearby, but it
is just to the north of the Langton Green Conservation Area. There is currently a
1.8m fence on the northern boundary of Breakstone's curtilage, which presumably
doesn't require planning permission because of the height. This application
proposes an increase in height. Given the longstanding establishment of this
boundary line, whilst it is preferable to avoid such hard, suburban features within the
rural setting of the Conservation Area and historic farmstead, the fence currently
does not form a recognisable part of the setting of the heritage assets and so the
increase in height is unlikely to cause harm. Can support this application
[Officer Note: Whilst an assessment as to the impact that this proposal would have
on the Conservation Area has been provided it is noted that Breakstones and this
proposal lies outside the boundaries of the Conservation Area]
Tree Officer
(10/06/21 - verbal) No objections as this proposal relates to the replacement fence
and the new fence will in the same position as the existing an unlikely to require
significant foundations.

Page 21

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

8.0

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING COMMENTS

8.01

The following additional comments have been received from the applicant:
• There is no danger of this application setting a precedent as each such case
would need to be viewed on its individual merits.
• There is a difference in levels between the two adjoining gardens, exacerbated by
the fact that both gardens slope rapidly down and away from the two built
properties increasing substantially the visibility line.
• Additionally such overlooking has been dramatically increased over the last few
years by the dying off or removal of mature trees, shrubs and other vegetation,
which in turn has been pulling the existing fence down.
• Finally, it should be made clear once again that the proposed fence is totally within
the curtilages of the two properties involved. It is not visible from the private lane
leading to the properties, nor from any part of any public highway, nor from any
other property

9.0

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

9.01

Site Location Plan
Photographs showing exiting boundary
Location Plan showing proposed replacement fence
Close Boarded Fence Elevations

10.0

APPRAISAL
Principle of Development
10.01 This property lies within the Limits of Built Development and within an established
residential area. There is an existing close-boarded fence on this northern
boundary, although it is not in a particularly good condition, and this proposed seeks
to replace this with a new close-boarded fence on the same alignment as the
existing. This type of boundary treatment is found commonly within the rear gardens
of dwellings and in this case this proposal could be considered as acceptable in
principle.
10.02 The main issues to consider in the determination of this application are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Impact on the visual amenities of the properties and the area
Impact on residential amenities
Impact on protected trees
Contamination implications

Visual Impact
10.03 The guidance within the Council’s supplementary planning document Alterations &
Extensions states that “boundary treatment/construction should reflect local tradition.
This may be picket fencing, metal railings on low brick walls or a brick or stone wall,
or even, occasionally, close-boarded fence. Generally, high timber panel fences to
boundaries within the public highway or visible to public spaces, etc. will be
discouraged”.
10.04 The proposed fence is to be located on the shared boundary between Breakstones
and The Oast House and this is within the private garden areas of these properties
that is not visible from any public viewpoint. In this case it is not considered that this
proposal would have an impact visually on the wider public area.

Page 22

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

10.05 The use of close-boarded fencing is considered to be in keeping with the existing
boundary treatment in this location. The proposed fence would be of a greater
height than the current fence and at a height of 2.4 metres would have a much
greater presence visually along this boundary. However, a fence of up to 2 metres
could be constructed without then need for planning permission and the height takes
into account of changes in ground level along this boundary in order to provide
privacy between these dwellings. On balance it is not considered that this proposed
fence would have a significantly harmful impact on the character or appearance of
the area.
10.06 It would appear that Breakstone and The Oast House once formed part of a larger
farm complex and could be considered an historic farmstead. In addition, The Oast
House is a converted oast and due to the importance of oasts in the agricultural
development of the southeast this would be considered a non-designated heritage
asset. Whilst close-boarded fences of this nature and of this height may not respect
the agricultural heritage of these properties taking into account that the Conservation
Officer has not raised objections and that there is an existing close-boarded fence on
this well established boundary it is not considered that the increased height of the
fence would have a significantly harmful impact on the setting of this non-designated
heritage asset or the historic farmstead.
Residential Amenity
10.07 Being located on the boundary with The Oast House the fence would have the
greatest impact on the occupiers of this dwelling. The garden of The Oast House
extends to the east and north of the oast and the area immediately adjacent to this
boundary is in use as a parking area for the oast and also a vegetable garden with a
greenhouse.
10.08 There are no changes proposed to the position of the fence as this will follow the line
of the existing fence but it is acknowledged that the proposed height of 2.4 metres
would have a greater overbearing impact. However, taking into account this would
be partly located adjacent to the neighbour’s parking area and along just one
boundary with the neighbour’s garden extending further to the north it is not
considered that this would be in a position or of a length that would appear overly
overbearing. There is likely to be additional overshadowing and loss of light to the
neighbour’s garden and parking area due to the position and height of this proposed
fence but it is not considered that this would cause significant harm to the amenities
of this neighbour.
Impact on Trees
10.09 There are a number of trees along this boundary, mainly located near Breakstones,
which are not protected, but the trees located at the eastern end of these gardens are
protected by a Tree Preservation Order. Taking into account the Tree Officer’s view,
it is not considered that the trees on this boundary would be adversely affected by
this proposal as the fence will replace an existing fence on the boundary on the same
alignment.
Contamination
10.10 This property lies within an area of potential contamination but taking into account the
nature of the development and that this replaces an existing fence in this position it is
not considered that there would be implication in terms of contamination.
Other Matters
10.11 The concerns raised by Speldhurst Parish Council have been noted but it is not
considered that this proposal would set a precedent as each proposal would be

Page 23

Agenda Item 7(A)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

assessed on its own merits. Whilst this property and the adjacent oast once formed
part of a more rural farm settlement they now lie within the Limits of Built
Development and it is not considered that the rural character of the surrounding area
would be adversely affected. The proposed height of this fence is above what could
be constructed as permitted development but this in itself does not make it
unacceptable. It is not visible from public viewpoints and its height is in response to
the changes in levels along this boundary to provide privacy and in this particular
instance it is not considered that this proposal would result in significant harm to
either visual or residential amenity to justify refusal of the application.
Conclusion
10.07 Based on the above it is not considered that this proposal would cause significant
harm to the visual amenities of the area or the residential amenities of the
neighbouring properties and it is recommended that permission be granted.
11.0

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions:
(1)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

(2)

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the details shown on the following submitted plans:
Site Location Plan
Location Plan showing proposed replacement fence
Close Boarded Fence Elevations
Reason: To clarify which plans have been approved.

(3)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of external
materials specified in the application which shall not be varied, unless otherwise
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

INFORMATIVES
N/A
Case Officer: Kirsty Minney
NB

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 24

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Ref No 21/00848/FULL

Removal of existing 1.8m (6ft) high closeboarded fence, and erection of new 2.4m (8ft)
closeboarded fence on North boundary of property
ADDRESS: Breakstones, Speldhurst Road, Langton Green, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN3
0JL

Condition Summary
(1) Implementation Condition
(2) Approved Plans
(3) External Materials

Page 25

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021
Site Location Plan – TN3 0JL

Page 26

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021

Block Plan

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
REPORT SUMMARY
REFERENCE NO - 21/00797/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Construction of a new 145-bedroom purpose-built student accommodation, academic learning
hub and ancillary plant and services along with associated landscaping, access, parking,
cycle/bin storage and other works.
ADDRESS Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust The Tunbridge Wells Hospital Tonbridge
Road Pembury Tunbridge Wells Kent TN2 4QJ
RECOMMENDATION - to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions (please refer to
section 11.0 of the report for full recommendation)
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
The proposal would not be appropriate development within the Green Belt. However, the
proposal would amount to 'very special circumstances' to outweigh harm to the functions of the
Green Belt.
The proposal lies outside the Limits to Built Development; however the merits of the case weigh
in favour of the proposal.
The traffic movements generated by the development can be accommodated without detriment
to highway safety.
The scale, location and design of the development would respect the context of the site. The
proposal would result in a localised level of harm to the landscape character of the locality and
the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which would be outweighed by the public
benefits of the proposal.
The proposal would result in less than substantial harm (lower end of the scale) to the setting of
a Grade II Listed Building; however, the public benefits of the scheme outweigh this low level of
harm.
The proposal would not be harmful to residential amenity.
Other environmental impacts have been assessed and there are not any which are potentially
significant and which cannot be controlled by conditions.
INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSAL
The following are considered to be material to the application:
Contributions (to be secured through Section 106 legal agreement/unilateral
undertaking): N/A
Net increase in numbers of jobs: 7
Estimated average annual workplace salary spend in Borough through net increase in
numbers of jobs: £148,533
The following are not considered to be material to the application:
Estimated annual council tax benefit for Borough: Nil
Estimated annual council tax benefit total: Nil
Estimated annual business rates benefits for Borough: Nil

Page 29

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Significant major application recommended for approval.
WARD Pembury

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL
Pembury Parish Council

APPLICANT c/o Agent

DECISION DUE DATE

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE

30/07/21

12/05/21

24/03/21

AGENT Mr David Harvey

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):
20/00128/FULL
Erection of single deck car park with vehicular
Pending
access, associated lighting and other ancillary
works
18/00704/FULL
Approved
27/06/18
Extension to existing entrance lobby (approx.
30sqm) at the A&E department of Tunbridge
Wells Hospital to increase reception and waiting
spaces. Curtain walling, cladding and glazed
canopy to match existing
11/01740/FULMJ

11/00001/FULMJ

07/02595/FULMJ

Removal of Condition (29) of TW/10/02250
(original permission ref. TW07/02595)
(Redevelopment of the existing Pembury
Hospital for 512 bed, approx. 65,500msq district
general hospital, 984 car parking spaces,
improvements to the public highway, new site
access, servicing, landscaping and associated
works/plant equipment) - Bus service provision
Extension/enlargement of 2 car parks approved
under application TW/07/2595/FULMJ to provide
100 extra car parking spaces
Redevelopment of the existing Pembury
Hospital for 512 bed, approx. 65,500msq district
general hospital, 984 car parking spaces,
improvements to the public highway, new site
access, servicing, landscaping and associated
works/plant equipment.

Approved

31/07/13

Approved

08/04/11

Approved

19/10/07

MAIN REPORT
1.0

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01

The site is located approximately 1.3km to the west of Pembury and 3.7km northeast of the centre of Royal Tunbridge Wells. The site is located within the grounds of
Tunbridge Wells Hospital and lies to the north of the existing hospital building and
service road. To the north-west of the site is a staff car park. The site covers an area
of approximately 1.42 hectares.

1.02

There are a large number of trees within the site and an informal picnic area, which is
used by hospital staff. The site also contains a link to a woodland walk. There is
woodland directly to the north of the site. The ancient woodland boundary is over 50
metres away from the site. Ancient woodland surrounds the wider hospital site.

Page 30

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
1.03

To the south-east of the site is the hospital service and plant area, which contains
oxygen storage tanks, back up generators, drainage treatment plant and storage.

1.04

The site is located outside of the Limits to Built Development and within the
Metropolitan Green Belt. The site is located outside of the High Weald Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB); however, the AONB surrounds the wider
hospital site and is around 60m from the site at its nearest point.

1.05

The Pembury Cutting and Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest is located
approximately 90m to the north-east of the site. This site is designated for its
geological interest only. The nearest site of ecological interest is the Pembury Walks
Local Wildlife Site which surrounds the hospital and is about 40m from the site. The
Tudeley Woods RSPB Reserve is also located approximately 50m to the north.

106

There is a Grade II listed Chapel, which is located within the hospital complex
adjacent the Tonbridge Road. The proposed student accommodation would be
located over 260 metres away from this listed building. The nearest Public Right of
Way (PROW) is footpath WT216, which is located around 120m to the north-west.

1.07

The level of land drops significantly towards the east. The north-western boundary of
the site (adjacent to the car park) is over 16 metres higher in level than the site of the
proposed garages, within the north-eastern part of the site.

2.0

PROPOSAL

2.01

The proposal seeks to provide a 145 bedroom purpose built student accommodation
and academic learning hub for medical students to live, learn and work. Five percent
of flats (8 bedrooms) would be designed for those with accessible living needs. The
accommodation would comprise of studio rooms with double bed space and en-suite
facilities. The flats would be clustered so they would have a shared kitchen, dining
and social facilities. The proposal comprises 21 nos. 6 bed flats, 3 nos. 5 bed flats
and 1 no. 4 bed flats, providing a total of 145 bedrooms. Shared laundry facilities are
proposed. The scheme includes 219m2 of academic space, including a learning hub,
private study and offices. The learning hub would be large enough to accommodate
approximately 40 students and is capable of splitting into three separate rooms by
retractable walls. There would also be a shared space for reception, security and
facilities management office. Easy access is proposed for wheelchair users. There
would be indoor and outdoor social space.

2.02

The proposal would be a six-storey modular building that has been designed to look
like a permanent build. The main part of the building would be approximately 21.5m
high (measured from NW elevation). The proposed building would have a brick base
with fire cement cladding (colours - Jadite Green and Chalk) and powder coated
aluminium windows and doors. The building would be constructed off site, which will
minimise the noise and disruption during the construction period. The ground floor
would contain the academic part of the development. The residential development
would be accessed separately from the learning hub and occupy floors 1 to 5. The
fifth floor is smaller in size than the other floors, with no floor space on the south-east
wing (approximately 18m high measured from NW elevation). It is also stepped in
from the north-east.

2.03

PV panels are proposed on the roof, with a green roof provided on the south-east
wing of the building. The development is accessible from the car park to the north via
a footbridge to provide level access to the first floor.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
2.04

The scheme is designed to be car free. A service road is proposed from the internal
access road to the west and provides access to a four bay drop off/emergency
parking area and bin store. This currently forms the exit of the existing car park,
which is due to be relocated as part of a separate application. The services and plant
are also located in the north-west corner of the site. Bicycle storage for 74 bikes is
proposed.

2.05

Plant and services for the development are proposed to be located adjacent to the
existing plant/service area for the hospital, in the north-east corner of the site. This
reduces any potential noise and amenity impacts from the air source heat pumps and
electricity transformers.

2.06

A comprehensive landscape scheme is included which extends the existing
woodland walk to the south east of the building. An outdoor amenity area is provided
for future occupiers to the south-east of the building. A green wall is proposed on the
south-east elevation. Planting and raised beds are proposed to the north-east of the
site along with a hedgerow to separate the drop off area/service road. Additional tree
planting is proposed to mitigate tree loss and help screen the development.

3.0

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Land uses including gross internal
floor areas

Number of jobs
Car parking spaces (inc. disabled)
Cycle spaces
No. of storeys
Max height

No. of flats
No. of bedrooms
4.0
-

-

Proposed
1.42ha
Academic – 219m2
Residential – 4,568m2
Plant – 146m2
Total - 4,933m2
7
4
74
6
21.5m (measurement
taken from NW elevation,
excluding roof guardrail)
25
145

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
Ancient Woodland + 30M Buffer Area
Adjacent to an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty AONB – approximately 60m away
(statutory protection in order to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of their
landscapes - National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act of 1949 &
Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000)
Potential Archaeological Importance - Various Sites
Metropolitan Greenbelt MGB1 - Metropolitan Greenbelt
Metropolitan Greenbelt - MGB2 Pembury Hospital
Outside the Limits to Built Development
Local Wildlife Sites TW17 - Pembury Walks, Pembury.
Potentially Contaminated Land
Section 106 or 52 Agreement Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Tonbridge Road, Pembury
Aquifer Protection Zone 4

Page 32

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
5.0

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Development Plan Policies:
Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy 2010
- Core Policy 1: Delivery of development
- Core Policy 2: Green Belt
- Core Policy 3: Transport infrastructure
- Core Policy 4: Environment
- Core Policy 5: Sustainable design and construction
- Core Policy 6: Housing provision
- Core Policy 7: Employment provision
- Core Policy 8: Retail, leisure and community facilities provision
- Core Policy 9: Development in Royal Tunbridge Wells
- Core Policy 14: Development in the countryside and rural areas
Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan 2006
- MGB1: Metropolitan Green Belt
- LBD1: Development outside the Limits to Built Development
- Policy EN1: Design and other development control criteria
- Policy EN8: Outdoor lighting
- Policy EN10: Sites of archaeological interest
- Policy EN13: Tree and woodland protection
- Policy EN15: Statutory Local Nature Reserves and other non-statutory Nature
Conservation Sites
- Policy EN16: Protection of groundwater and other watercourses
- Policy EN25: Development control criteria for all development proposals affecting
the rural landscape
- Policy R2: Recreation Open Space in New Residential Development
- Policy TP1: Major development requiring Transport Assessment and Travel Plan
- Policy TP3: Multi-modal Access for Large Scale Development Schemes
- Policy TP4: Access to Road Network
- Policy TP5: Car parking Standards
- Policy TP9: Cycle Parking Standards
Tunbridge Wells Site Allocations Local Plan 2016
- Policy AL/GB5: Major developed sites in the Green Belt
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
- Contaminated Land
- Noise & Vibration
- Renewable Energy
- Kent Design Guide
- Borough Landscape Character Area Assessment
- Landscape and Nature Conservation
- Green infrastructure plan
- High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019-2024
Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan (February 2021)
- STR 1: The development strategy
- STR 2: Place shaping and design
- STR 5: Infrastructure and connectivity
- STR 6: Transport and parking
- STR 7: Climate change

Page 33

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
-

STR 8: Conserving and enhancing the natural, built, and historic environment
STR 9: Green Belt
STR/RTW 1: The strategy for Royal Tunbridge Wells
PSTR/PE 1: The strategy for Pembury parish
EN1: Sustainable design
EN2: Sustainable design standards
EN3: Climate change mitigation and adaptation
EN4: Historic environment
EN5: Heritage assets
EN8: Outdoor lighting and dark skies
EN9: Biodiversity net gain
EN10: Protection of designated sites and habitats
EN12: Trees, woodlands, hedges and development
EN13: Ancient woodland and veteran trees
EN14: Green, grey and blue infrastructure
EN15: Local green space
EN16: Landscape within the built environment
EN18: Rural landscape
EN19: The High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
EN21: Air quality
EN24: Water supply, quality and treatment
EN25: Flood risk
EN26: Sustainable drainage
EN27: Noise
EN28: Land contamination
H2: Housing density
TP1: Transport Assessments, Travel Plans and mitigation
TP2: Transport design and accessibility
TP3: Parking Standards

6.0

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.01

Site notices were displayed around the site on 24th March and 7th April. The
application was also advertised in the local newspaper on 30th March and 16th April.
No private representations have been received.

6.02

7.0
7.01

Royal Tunbridge Wells Civic Society
(08/05/21): Supportive of a medical school at Tunbridge Wells Hospital and accept
that the development of this site will result in the loss of trees and recreational space.
Failure to provide car parking other than four drop-off and disabled spaces quite
unrealistic. In this location, many students and staff will own cars and need to park
them. The adjacent staff car park is already over-subscribed. Proposal will result in
further congestion in and around the hospital site, penalising patients and those
visiting them. Improved public transport to and from the hospital is urgently needed.
However, this would not fully compensate for the lack of dedicated parking for the
medical school.
CONSULTATIONS
Pembury Parish Council
(20/04/21): Support the concept of a training facility at the hospital, but object on the
grounds that the lack of parking on an application of this scale is unacceptable.
Concern about significant loss of trees.
Highways England

Page 34

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
7.02

(07/6/21): The applicant has agreed that a walkway will be provided linking the
accommodation to the on-site bus stops. A scheme including drawings indicating the
footway route, lighting and fencing can be sought by condition.

7.03

The agent has confirmed that there is no requirement to issue new parking permits.
Students with existing permits will return them to the hospital. Upon registration to a
relevant course, all vehicles will be registered and enforcement, including disciplinary
measures or fines will be undertaken. Recommend condition that seeks regular
monitoring and review of a parking strategy.

7.04

Arrival/departure dates for students will likely take place over a weekend. This is
outside the weekday AM/PM hours. Recommend this is indicated within the Travel
Plan, which can be secured by condition.

7.05

Subject to conditions, there remains no outstanding items. The application would not
unacceptably impact the safety, reliability and/or operation of the Strategic Road
Network (SRN) in this location and its vicinity.

7.06

(19/05/21): There is good access to public transport. The site is on several bus
routes, which range from 30 mins service to hourly service through the weekdays.
There is a later night bus service until 22:46 on weeknights. Students will be handed
a booklet that includes penalties for having a car on site. The cost of a private hire
vehicle from the site to the town centre or High Brooms Rail Station is below £10. It is
not clear how students will be restricted from using existing visitor parking on site.

7.07

The site is proposed to be ‘car free’ which should negate the overall impact upon the
junction. No assessment of the junction is therefore required. Clarification should be
provided regarding how student term time arrivals/departures will be managed.

7.08

Currently insufficient information available to ensure the safety, reliability and/or
operation of the SRN. Recommend the application is not determined until additional
information is submitted.

7.09

(13/04/21): Require details of the number of staff, their trip generation and parking
provision. Students may require a car for personal, medical or other reasons. Equally
to carry out work placements/carry equipment or return to University. Students may
need to travel at times or to locations not suited to public transport. More evidence is
required regarding the propensity of students having cars and how it will be catered
for or controlled.

7.10

On-site parking at the hospital is in high demand. There are existing visitor spaces on
site (400+) offered on a pay and display basis that can be use by anyone, including
visitors and students. Details of parking enforcement measures required.

7.11

The intermittent nature of public transport during the weekend is likely to encourage
car use. While there are good connections for local cycling routes, this may not be an
option during inclement weather/winter months. Further information required.

7.12

No assessment has been undertaken in terms of junction modelling at the SRN
(A21/A228) for the site as a whole or consideration given to the overall number of
trips generated by the NHS hospital and the impact that this would have upon the
SRN. The A21/A228 is already showing existing levels of congestion and there is a
high degree of development within this area which is likely to come on-stream in the
next couple of years. Need cumulative impact assessment to be undertaken at the

Page 35

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

A21/A228 and A21/Longfield Road Dumbell Roundabout junctions to ensure that
there will be capacity to accommodate the proposed development.
7.13

Application 20/00128 highlighted concerns regarding active travel by females to the
site. This is likely to limit how many staff would take up non-car modes. Further
consideration is required on how safety for active modal travel can be improved.

7.14

There is insufficient information available to ensure the safety, reliability and/or
operation of the SRN in this location and vicinity. Recommend the Local Planning
Authority refrains from determining the application (other than refusal) until the
required information is submitted and agreed by Highways England.

7.15

7.16

7.17

7.18

7.19

7.20

7.21

Natural England
(22/04/21): No objection. The site is adjacent to the AONB; however, it is well
screened and on a site of existing development. Natural England does not consider
that the proposed development would compromise the purposes of the designation of
special qualities of the AONB.
The proposal would not damage or destroy the Pembury Cutting Site of Special
Scientific Interest - no objection. The site lies adjacent to ancient woodland.
Recommend view Standing Advice.
Environment Agency
(22/03/21): This application has a low environmental risk. Recommend condition
regarding contamination. The applicant may be required to apply for other consents
direct from the Environment Agency, such as water abstraction or discharging to a
stream.
Southern Water
(08/04/1): Southern Water can provide foul sewage disposal to service the proposed
development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the
public foul sewer to be made by the applicant. Initial investigations indicate there are
no public surface water sewers in the area to serve the development. Alternative
means of draining surface water are required. This should not involve disposal to a
public foul sewer, preference is for soakaways.
Land uses such as general hardstanding that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages
should be drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors. Should
consent be granted, recommend further details of foul and surface water disposal are
submitted prior to commencement of works.
Forestry Commission
(26/03/21): Ancient woodlands are irreplaceable. It is government policy to refuse
development that will result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats
including ancient woodland unless ‘there are wholly exceptional reasons and a
suitable compensation strategy exists.’ Refer to Standing Advice on Ancient
Woodland. The Forestry Commission provide no opinion supporting or objecting to
an application.
UK Power Networks
(19/03/21): Map provided showing no electrical lines or plant within the area where
the new building is proposed.
SGN

Page 36

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
7.22

7.23

(19/03/21): Map provided showing no gas infrastructure within the area where the
new building is proposed.
KCC Highways & Transportation
(10/05/21 & 14/04/21): The site will be promoted as car free. A drop off area will be
provided to the north of the site. This area will include a total of four drop off spaces,
one of which will be a disabled bay and 74 cycle parking spaces. The Trust will be
responsible for managing the servicing and drop off area to ensure that this area is
not misused. A marshal will be appointed by the Trust to oversee the drop off and
pickup of pupils to ensure that there is a high turnover of the parking spaces.

7.24

The Transport Statement provides a robust assessment of the likely traffic generated
by this proposal, with very minimal impact on peak hour traffic, and a likely reduction
in the number of vehicle movements to the site on a daily basis owing to 62 of 145
students who currently work/study at the hospital travelling to and from the site daily
becoming occupants of the new accommodation. Pedestrian access, cycle storage,
refuse collection and fire tender access are acceptable.

7.25

The Draft Travel Plan is acceptable. Surveys should be undertaken within the first
three months of full occupation to ensure targets can be properly assessed. The
submission of the Travel Plan and subsequent assessment and monitoring by KCC
Highways should be a condition of any approval given.

7.26

7.27

7.28

7.29

7.30

KCC Flood & Water Management
(13/04/21): The proposal seeks to utilise a combination of tanked porous paving and
underground geocellular attenuation prior to discharging to an existing surface water
sewer at a greenfield run off rate of 3.7 l/s. Recommend conditions.
KCC Economic Development
(05/05/ & 09/04/21): No contributions sought. Recommend condition regarding
broadband
KCC Archaeological Officer
(22/04/21): The site of the proposed new build lies within an area of general
Prehistoric potential, including evidence of Mesolithic and Iron Age activity similar to
that discovered on the A21 highway scheme. The site is also close to the former
Tonbridge Union Workhouse. Although most of the former buildings now lie within the
building complex of the new hospital, the 4th edition OS map suggests there may be
some buildings within the area of the proposed development.
There are no indications of significant archaeology. Recommend condition.
Mid Kent Environmental Protection
(26/04/21): No objection. The site is not within an air quality management area.
Given the location, it is expected that pollution levels from traffic would be low. The
development includes no additional parking for occupants. On-site residency will
reduce the need for students to commute to the site, resulting in an overall net
reduction in vehicle trips.

7.31

The new building is lower in height than the existing building. The existing biomass
installation is therefore not a concern.

7.32

A preliminary site investigation has been undertaken which indicates the presence of
contamination on site, notably PAH and asbestos. The report recommends additional

Page 37

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

investigation in order to inform the development of a remediation strategy.
Recommend condition.
7.33

7.34

7.35

The acoustic report indicates that there will be some noise mitigation required, which
will include mechanical ventilation system and acoustic attenuation and screening for
the air source heat pumps. Recommend condition.
TWBC Planning Policy
(11/05/21): The proposal would contribute to five year housing land supply, much the
same as C2 housing does by way of discount, based on the number of houses
released in the wider market as a result of the communal development. This is based
on the average number of students in student-only households in the borough based
on the Census data. This shows there is an average of 1.93 students per student
only household in the borough, which means that the 145 development would
contribute 75 units towards the five year housing land supply, as it would ‘release’ 75
houses back to C3 use.
(22/04/21): The site lies with the Metropolitan Green Belt and adjacent to the High
Weald AONB. Para 5.651 of the Pre-Submission Local Plan states that:
‘The hospital is considered to be a key strategic element in delivering current
and future health provision for West Kent. The Council will be supportive of
development proposals either on land at the hospital, or in the vicinity of the
hospital site, that have a direct functional link with the hospital or any
emergency services associated with it… for example, uses that involve
significant levels of hospital staff working at the site to provide, for example,
rehabilitation or training… This also includes key worker housing for hospital
and/or emergency service staff; hospital expansion; clinical facilities; and
medical research/education, including housing for students… This includes
land forming part of the Green Belt: development will need to demonstrate
‘very special circumstances’ as part of any planning application, which clearly
outweigh potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness,
and any other harm resulting from the proposal.’

7.36

There is a clear functional link between the proposal and the wider hospital site. The
Planning Statement lists the very special circumstances as:
-

-

-

The proposed development directly contributes to meeting the need for additional
medical school places in the area, where there is an identified shortfall of doctors
and therefore contributes to the future resilience of the NHS.
There are specific benefits to the accommodation and teaching space being
located within the hospital grounds, attracting students to the course, avoiding
pressure on surrounding housing stock and sustainability.
There are no realistic alternatives which exist to provide the student
accommodation, which create the same benefits. Not to provide any
accommodation would affect the ability of the KMMS to contribute to the future
resilience of the NHS.

7.37

TWBC Housing Officer
(22/03/21): This type of student accommodation is classified as C2 and no affordable
housing is therefore required.

7.38

TWBC Tree Officer
(26/05/21): Satisfied with the amended Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree
Protection Plan. T25 and T66 now shown to be retained. No further comments.

Page 38

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

7.39

(24/05/21): Would like to see T66 retained. Temporary ground protection and
trenchless installation of the drainage system should be adequate to protect the
tree’s roots and soil environment. Its retention would soften the impact of the new
building on the wooded area. This is one of the more significant specimens in this
area, where so many other trees are shown for felling.

7.40

(19/05/21): Accept the loss of T17, given the proximity of the proposed level changes
to the trunk, but recommend that T25 and T66 are retained. Both are mature
chestnuts in good condition with long-term potential and their amenity and ecological
value is far beyond what will be achieved by the new planting in the foreseeable
future. RPA incursions of 12-14% should be tolerable here. If the trees are
adequately protected during construction and particularly if soil improvement is
carried out within the retained RPA to encourage growth, the Tree Officer does not
expect the trees to enter terminal decline. This species tolerates pruning well.

7.41

(29/03/21): The proposal involves substantial tree loss, primarily within a stand of
early mature/mature sweet chestnuts, which have been assessed as category B
trees. These trees are collectively attractive and being situated near a staff picnic
area and woodland footpath has considerable amenity value, though only from within
the site. Given their age, species and location they are likely to have moderate
ecological value as individuals though higher as a group. Mature tree cover makes a
measurable contribution to mental and physical health. Proposals involving this scale
of tree loss should not be permitted, unless there are considerable benefits from the
scheme and a lack of alternative suitable locations.

7.42

The Tree Protection Plan shows the best specimens (oaks T8, T71 and T72) retained
and integrated into the scheme. It is not clear why three other trees are shown for
removal (T17, T25 and T66) and why they cannot be retained with a little or no redesign of the layout around them.

7.43

The planting strategy should account for retention of T25 and T26 and incorporate
additional replacement trees elsewhere to compensate for permanent loss of canopy
cover.

7.44

TWBC Landscape & Biodiversity Officer
(07/06/21): The ecological assessment is accepted. All remaining matters can be
conditioned – scheme of ecological enhancements to achieve net gain for
biodiversity and details of landscaping.

7.45

(27/05/21 verbal): Recommend condition to cover mitigation for particular species
referred to in the ecological report.

7.46

(26/05/21): Natural England has confirmed that there are no constraints or
obligations to the removal of the existing bat and dormice boxes on site. This
information is sufficient to address this matter.

7.47

(07/05/21): The revised plans represent a positive response to my comments
regarding tree planting in the area between the new build and existing car park and
have resulted in an improved design with more trees. Support the changes.

7.48

(22/04/21): Overall, there are some significant landscape and visual effects, which
include the loss of a significant landscape feature, the group of trees and associated
space, which is likely to be a permanent loss. However, this does not have a
significant effect on the AONB; it is very localised and is supported by a suitable

Page 39

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

landscape strategy, which will help assimilate the new development into the hospital
estate. The new building will not, in the context of the larger hospital building look out
of place. Taking account of the nature of the development and the site context, it is
considered that the extent of landscape and visual harm, whilst regrettable is at an
acceptable level.
7.49

Supportive of overall mitigation approach, but remain concerned about the weakness
of the tree planting between the new building and the car park.

7.50

The site offers suitable foraging for badgers and nesting sites for birds. Suitable
mitigation measures have been suggested, which can be secured by condition.
There is potential for bats to be present in trees on site and for bats to use the site for
feeding and commuting. Surveys are recommended for trees and bat boxes and also
for the use of the site by foraging/commuting bats. These surveys should be provided
prior to determination. External lighting should be conditioned.

7.51

Based on historical surveys and site condition, dormice are considered absent.
Reptiles are also considered absent. Site clearance should take a precautionary
approach and measures for avoidance of harm set out within the mitigation strategy
should be secured by condition.

7.52

Bat and dormice boxes on site may be part of a former protected species licence.
Discussions with Natural England are required to ascertain any constraints or
obligations to the removal/alteration of those boxes.

7.53

Additional enhancements are suggested, including provision of bird, bat and
hedgehog boxes. The scheme could be more imaginative and include feeding
stations for birds, wildlife interpretation panel, names on trees and well
designed/artistic structures for bug hotels. This would help the residents connect with
nature and be more respectful of the surrounding natural environment and make
managers and contractors aware of the nature conservation importance on the new
landscape. Recommend condition.

7.54

The biodiversity net gain report uses appropriate values for existing habitat.
Concerns that the extent of net gain proposed (+16.07% habitat units and +445.73%
hedgerow units) will not be achieved. However, there will be no net loss overall so
the scheme is policy complaint. The Council would have further confidence in the
predicted outcome if the areas proposed for landscaping and net gain were the
subject of a LEMP secured by condition.

7.55

7.56

TWBC Conservation Officer
(09/02/21): There is some heritage significance to the hospital site as a whole, as
being the site of the former 19th century workhouse complex, of which the Grade II
listed chapel on the west side is the only remaining building. The site is on the
opposite side of the hospital site to the chapel. The site has always been wooded
according to historic maps, although a small building appears on the 1907-1910 map
range and disappears again by the 1931-1939 map range.
The woodlands surrounding the hospital formed part of the setting of the workhouse.
The peace and tranquillity of the woodland forms part of the significance of the listed
chapel. The setting is compromised somewhat by the increased use of the road in
modern times and the formation of a car park to the south and east, but the car park
replaced workhouse buildings, not woodland. The loss of further woodland at some
distance from the chapel is unlikely to have any more than a limited impact on that
part of its setting which forms part of its significance. This is also in the context of the

Page 40

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

chapel having historically and more recently formed part of a much larger complex of
buildings related to the workhouse or hospital. Student accommodation related to the
hospital use would be appropriate to its setting.

7.57

TWBC Client Services
(19/03/21): The development will be under a commercial collection service and not
come under TWBC domestic waste.

8.0

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING COMMENTS

8.01

There has been a pressing need for many decades to train more medical doctors in
England as traditionally there has been a reliance on recruiting overseas doctors into
the National Health Service.

8.02

In 2016 Parliament approved the creation of six new medical schools in England.
Kent was successful in bidding for a medical school and the Kent and Medway
Medical School came about.

8.03

Medical doctors undertake five years under graduate medical studies, comprising of
both academic medical studies at University and clinical training at approved
teaching hospitals. Tunbridge Wells Hospital has been designated as a major
teaching hospital for Kent. Next year medical students completing their pre-clinical
studies will be placed under clinical firms at Tunbridge Wells Hospital from Kent’s
own university medical school for the first time.

8.04

The proposed medical school accommodation block would provide 145 rooms and
an academic teaching hub for the under graduate medical students. The proposed
development would deliver accommodation within a sensitive and well-designed
scheme which co-locates with excellent clinical adjacencies to the hospital.

8.05

The building has been developed to minimise landscape impacts and ensure
biodiversity gain. The building would achieve BREEAM excellent and would operate
on a car free basis. There are controls in place preventing students bringing cars to
the hospital site with a strong emphasis on the use of alternative sustainable
transport.

9.0

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS
Design and Access Statement Revision P2 dated February 2021
Planning and Green Belt very special circumstances statement dated March
2021
Supporting Information to D&A Statement Revision 3 dated February 2021
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated March 2021
Biodiversity Net Gain dated March 2021
Renewable Energy Assessment Report Revision 01
Fire Solutions Document Issue 2
Security of site and building report
BREEAM Version 2 dated March 2021
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy dated March 2021
Preliminary Unexploded Ordnance Risk Assessment dated February 2021
Informal Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment
Transport Statement dated March 2021
Draft Travel Plan dated March 2021
Noise Assessment dated March 2021
Legislative Assessment Report and Design Review
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement dated May 2021

Page 41

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
-

Interim Ecological Assessment dated June 2021
Preliminary Site Investigation & Risk Assessment Report dated April 2021

Drawing numbers:
- 0100/P3: Location Plan
- 0101/P7: Block Plan
- 0119/P2: Existing Site Plan
- 0120/P18: Proposed Site Plan
- 0121/P6: Proposed External Works Plan
- 0130/P5: Proposed Plans
- 0131/P2: Proposed Ground Floor Plan
- 0132/P2: Proposed First Floor Plan
- 0133/P2: Proposed Second, Third & Fourth Floor Plans
- 0134/P2: Proposed Fifth Floor Plan
- 0135/P2: Proposed Roof Plan
- 0140/P6: Proposed SE & NW Elevations and Section BB
- 0141/P7: Proposed SW & NE Elevations and Section AA
- 0142/P4: Proposed Section AA
- 0143/P4: Proposed SE & NW Elevations & Section BB
- 0144/P3: Proposed North West Elevation
- 0145/P3: Proposed South West Elevation
- 0146/P4: Proposed North East Elevation
- 0147/P1: Existing and Proposed Plant Elevations
- 0148/P1: Existing Garages Plans & Elevations
- 692-100: Planting Strategy Plan
10.0

APPRAISAL

Principle of Development
10.01 In 2016, the government outlined plans to increase the number of medical students
trained in the UK to help address the shortage of medical staff and reduce reliance
on overseas recruitment. The Kent and Medway Medical School (KMMS) is a new
collaboration between the University of Kent and Canterbury Christ Church
University, which seeks to meet this objective and enhance the high quality clinical
teaching and research that both institutions currently offer. The KMMS is one of six
new medicals schools being established across the country. The new medical
schools were selected to be in areas that were experiencing the greatest recruitment
challenges.
10.02 The KMMS will offer a five year Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery
degree with medical placements in primary, community, mental health and secondary
care settings. The curriculum requires undergraduates to undertake placements
within hospitals in their third, fourth and fifth years of study. The Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells Trust has been chosen as one of the placement providers, with the
first intake of KMMS students due from September 2022. Clinical placements will be
at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells hospitals.
10.03 Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust currently provides clinical placements for
approximately 40 medical students from King’s and St George’s medical schools.
These are allocated approximately two thirds to Tunbridge Wells Hospital and one
third to Maidstone Hospital. In addition, the Trust provides placements for
approximately 70 junior training doctors, which are split equally across both sites.
The accommodation for existing students is currently provided in the High Street,
Pembury and Spring Wood Road, Maidstone. Existing students are currently
travelling to and from the hospital.

Page 42

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

10.04 The KMMS once fully established will place 120 additional medical students at
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells. 80 of these will be at Tunbridge Wells Hospital,
along with 24 students from King’s and St George’s medical schools and 40 junior
doctors. The High Street Pembury location will continue to be used for staff and
students employed or training at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust.
10.05 The proposal seeks to provide residential accommodation for 145 medical students,
plus a learning hub to enable medical students to live, work and learn on site. This
application is part of a national strategy to increase the number of fully trained
medical professionals in the UK. The proposal seeks to attract medical students to
the hospital through the provision of high quality and affordable accommodation.
10.06 The site lies within the existing hospital grounds, to the north of the main hospital
building and south-east of a staff car park. The site is located outside of the Limits to
Built Development and within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Para 133 of the NPPF
states that the ‘fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belt are their
openness and their permanence.’
10.07 Para 145 states that new buildings are considered inappropriate development in the
Green Belt, subject to a number of exceptions, including agricultural/forestry
buildings; facilities connected with outdoor sport or cemeteries/burial grounds;
extension or replacement buildings; affordable housing and limited infilling in villages.
The proposed scheme does not fall within any of these exceptions and is therefore
deemed to be ‘inappropriate development.’
10.08 Para 143 of the NPPF states that ‘inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.’
In decision making, local planning authorities are required to give substantial weight
to any harm to the Green Belt. Para 144 states that “very special circumstances’ will
not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness,
and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations.’
10.09 The proposal would result in a new six-storey high building that would impact the
openness of the Green Belt. It would be sited on an area of land, which is heavily
treed and provides a picnic area for hospital staff. The proposal is considered to be
‘inappropriate development’ in the Green Belt. However, in this case there are
considered to be ‘very special circumstances’, which outweigh the harm to the Green
Belt, which include:
-

-

-

The proposal directly contributes to meeting the need for additional medical
school places in the area, where there is an identified shortfall of doctors, which
has been identified as a national priority.
The proposal contributes to the future resilience of the NHS.
There are specific benefits to the accommodation and teaching space being
located within the hospital grounds, attracting students to the course, avoiding
pressure on surrounding housing stock and sustainability.
There are no realistic alternatives to provide the student accommodation outside
of the Green Belt, which create the same benefits.
The proposal would make a valuable contribution towards meeting the Council’s
five year housing land supply.
The proposal directly provides medical staff for the provision of care in the
hospital to the benefit of the local community.

Page 43

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
-

Creation of seven jobs.

10.10 Policy AL/GB5 of the SALP refers to major developed sites in the Green Belt and
includes Tunbridge Wells Hospital. It states that:
‘Infill development and redevelopment proposals within the boundary of these sites
will be subject to the following:
-

Development must not have an adverse impact on the openness or visual
amenity of the Green Belt
Development must not exceed the height of any of the existing buildings
Where infill development is proposed, development would not lead to a major
increase in the developed proportion of the defined Major Developed Site.’

10.11 The proposed development has been designed to minimise its overall footprint, which
in turn reduces its impact on existing trees and biodiversity, minimising the areas to
be lost. Although the proposal would be six storeys high, it would be lower and far
smaller in size than the existing hospital building and appear subservient to it. As
stated above, there are ‘very special circumstances’ in this case that outweigh the
harm to the openness of the Green Belt.
10.12 Para 73 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires the Council to
meet its full, objectively assessed needs (OAN) for market and affordable housing in
the borough and identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites
sufficient to provide five years worth of housing against the Council’s housing
requirements. The Council currently cannot demonstrate a five year housing supply
compliant with the OAN figure. In April 2020, the Council were able to demonstrate a
4.83 housing land supply (inclusive of a 5% buffer). Work is currently being
undertaken to establish the position on 1 April 2021. In such situations, the NPPF
advises that the Council’s policies for the supply of housing should not be considered
up-to-date and a presumption in favour of sustainable development applies.
10.13 Para 11d of the NPPF states that for decision-taking this means that where ‘there are
no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date, granting planning permission unless:
(i)
(ii)

The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or
Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole’.

10.14 The site lies within the Green Belt, which the NPPF defines as a protected area. It is
also adjacent to an AONB (another protected area) and within the setting of a
heritage asset.
10.15 Para 8 of the NPPF explains that there are three dimensions to sustainable
development:
‘an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure;

Page 44

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect
the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and
an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to
climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.’
10.16 It can be seen that sustainability is a multi-faceted and broad-based concept. It is
often necessary to weigh certain attributes against each other in order to arrive at a
balanced position.
Social objective
10.17 Although the site is located outside the LBD for Tunbridge Wells, it would be adjacent
to the existing hospital complex and reduce the need for medical students to travel to
and from their place of work, which has social and environmental benefits. The site is
also well connected in terms of public transport and walking/cycling routes (see
transportation section below). The proposal would provide high quality
accommodation and learning facilities for students, which would help attract medical
students to the hospital. The proposal would meet a national government objective
by increasing the number of medical students trained in the country and would
contribute to the future resilience of the NHS. These are considered to significant
social benefits, which are given significant weight in the decision making process.
10.18 Section 5 of the NPPF requires that a sufficient amount and variety of land comes
forward to significantly boost the supply of homes. This includes providing housing to
meet the needs of different groups in the community, including students.
10.19 Communal accommodation such as student accommodation (Use Class C2)
contributes towards the Council’s five year housing land supply, albeit not on a likefor-like basis in comparison to C3 housing units. The contribution that communal
accommodation makes to the supply of housing is based upon the amount of housing
that is released upon the occupation of communal units. In this case, the 145 room
student accommodation, would equate to 75 units as part of the Council’s five year
housing land supply. The proposed development would make a valuable contribution
towards meeting the Council’s five year housing land supply, which is a further social
benefit.
Environmental objective
10.20 The site is located outside of the LBD and within the Metropolitan Green Belt. It is
also adjacent to the AONB. The proposed development would harm the openness of
the Green Belt. However, there are considered to be ‘very special circumstances’ to
outweigh the harm identified, as set out above. The proposal would result in localised
harm to the landscape character of the locality and the setting of the AONB and less
than substantial harm to the setting of a listed building. It would also result in the loss
of a large number of trees. The impact of the proposal on the landscape, AONB,
heritage assets, trees and ecology is discussed in greater detail below, but in
summary, it is considered that the benefits of the scheme outweigh the harm
identified.
10.21 The proposal would achieve a net gain for biodiversity and provide a sustainable and
energy efficient building, which would exceed the targets set out in the emerging
Local Plan (see sustainability section below).

Page 45

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

Economic objective
10.22 The proposal would generate approximately seven full time jobs. The proposal would
accord with the NPPF’s priority to support economic growth. This provides moderate
weight in favour of the scheme. Residents in a car free environment are more likely
to utilise nearby facilities and shops, which has economic benefits. There would also
be a short-term economic benefit during construction of the development; however,
this would be limited and carries little weight.
10.23 As discussed in greater detail in the report, the proposal would result in harm to the
openness of the Green Belt; localised harm to the landscape and setting of the
AONB; less than substantial harm to the setting of a listed building (lower end of the
scale); and, harm to trees and biodiversity. However, it is considered that the
significant benefits of the scheme and ‘very special circumstances’ outweigh the
harm identified.
10.24 Regulation 19 consultation on the Pre-Submission version of the Local Plan has
recently closed and the comments are being considered. Given the early stage of
the Pre-Submission Local Plan, the policies within it can only be given limited weight;
however, it provides an indication of the Council’s position on development on this
site. Para 5.651 of the Pre-Submission Local Plan states that:
‘The hospital is considered to be a key strategic element in delivering current
and future health provision for West Kent. The Council will be supportive of
development proposals either on land at the hospital, or in the vicinity of the
hospital site, that have a direct functional link with the hospital or any
emergency services associated with it… for example, uses that involve
significant levels of hospital staff working at the site to provide, for example,
rehabilitation or training… This also includes key worker housing for hospital
and/or emergency service staff; hospital expansion; clinical facilities; and
medical research/education, including housing for students… This includes
land forming part of the Green Belt: development will need to demonstrate
‘very special circumstances’ as part of any planning application, which clearly
outweigh potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness,
and any other harm resulting from the proposal.’
10.25 The Pre-Submission Local Plan states that the Council will be supportive of student
accommodation or development to facilitate education/research at Tunbridge Wells
Hospital that has a direct functional link with the hospital as is the case here. The
proposal also demonstrates ‘very special circumstances’, which are accepted. The
proposal therefore complies with emerging policy.
Impact on AONB and visual amenity
10.26 The site does not fall within a statutory designated landscape; however it is a short
distance away (approximately 60m) from the boundary with the AONB and therefore
will have an impact on its setting. Para 172 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight
should be given to conserving and enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty in…
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in
relation to these issues.’ Para 172 continues to state that ‘planning permission should
be refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances, and
where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest’.
10.27 The proposed building would be sited to the north of the existing hospital complex
and south-east of a car park, which provides two levels of parking. The existing
hospital building is eight storeys in height. The proposed building would be six

Page 46

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

storeys high and has been designed as such, to minimise its overall footprint and
therefore its impact on existing trees and biodiversity. The proposed building would
have a significantly smaller footprint than the principal building and be lower in
height. It would appear subservient to the existing building.
10.28 The proposed student accommodation has been well designed and seeks to
complement the existing building. The design attempts to reduce the perceived
number of storeys, by creating a double height window panel. The external materials
would be in natural colours to suit the woodland setting. The building would also be
screened somewhat from the AONB by the existing built development and
trees/woodland. The proposal would have a localised impact on the landscape. The
loss of trees and landscaping is regrettable and would result in some localised harm;
however, this is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme identified above. A
comprehensive planting scheme is proposed to help mitigate tree loss and soften the
development.
10.29 The existing picnic area to the front of the building is retained and enhanced with a
new meadow grass terraced bank with informal seating and steps up to the building.
10.30 There is a public right of way to the north of the site. The proposed building would be
separated from the PROW by the two-storey car park and existing woodland. The
proposal would also be on lower level land than the PROW. The proposed scheme
would not result in a harmful visual impact when viewed from the PROW. If visible at
all, it would be seen in the context of the existing hospital building, which is far larger.
Highway safety, transportation and parking
10.31 There are currently 60 student doctors already in training at the hospital with a further
80 on stream. They are currently travelling to and from the hospital from their place of
residence. The proposal would provide suitable, affordable on-site accommodation
for 145 students and reduce the need for them to travel from their residence to their
place of work.
10.32 Pedestrian and vehicular access would be from the existing access point on
Tonbridge Road. The proposal would be promoted as car free, with no vehicle
parking provided. A drop off and service area is proposed to the north of the site,
which would provide four drop off spaces (including disabled bay) and 74 cycle
parking spaces (equating to one space per ten staff and one space per two
residents). Level access is provided to the cycle spaces. Upon the request of
Highways England, the applicant has agreed to provide a lit walkway with CCTV from
the on-site bus stops to the accommodation to improve active travel options and
safety for future residents.
10.33 The hospital is on several bus routes, which range from 30 mins service to hourly
service through the weekdays. The latest bus service leaves the hospital at 22:46
and arrives at Tunbridge Wells railway station at 23:10 and the last bus from town
leaves the station at 23:15 and arrives at the hospital at 23:39. These times apply
Monday to Saturday. There are also services on Sunday but they do not run as late
into the evening. There are good pedestrian/cycle linkages from the site to Tunbridge
Wells with off carriageway, dedicated cycle lanes. The cost of a private hire vehicle
from the site to the town centre or High Brooms railway station is below £10. The
Trust fund a bus service between Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells hospital. The 6/6A
(Maidstone to Tunbridge Wells), the 277 (Pembury to Tunbridge Wells) and the
218/219 (Pembury to Tonbridge) are free to use by staff. The NHS Trust are
considering additional services to further aid the needs of staff, including future
students. The Trust also funds a link between Tonbridge station and the hospital,

Page 47

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

which has been running since April 2019. There are numerous sustainable transport
options available for future residents, which enables this development to be car free.
10.34 The scheme would have a minimal impact on the highway network. 62 of the 145
students that would occupy the accommodation currently work/study at the hospital
and have to travel to and from the site on a daily basis. Relocating these students on
site has potential to reduce the number of daily vehicle movements. No objections
have been raised to the development from Highways England or the Local Highway
Authority. The proposed development would not be harmful to the local or strategic
highway network.
10.35 A Travel Plan has been submitted with the application which seeks to promote
sustainable travel to students and visitors. The Travel Plan recommends that travel
surveys are completed within the first 3 months of the site being occupied and
updated annually for the first five years. Following each set of surveys, the Travel
Plan would need to be reviewed and updated as necessary. The Trust would be
responsible for managing the servicing and drop off area to ensure that this area is
not misused. Highways England recommend that the Travel Plan is updated by
condition to ensure that arrival/departure dates for students takes place over a
weekend and does not impact the weekday AM/PM hours. A parking strategy is also
required by condition to ensure that parking is regularly monitored and enforcement
action is taken by the Trust on any student that brings a vehicle onto site.
Impact on heritage assets
10.36 There is a Grade II listed chapel, which is located over 260 metres away from the site
of the proposed student accommodation. The woodland surrounding the hospital
historically provided a tranquil setting for the former workhouse (the chapel is the
only building remaining). The setting of the listed building is compromised somewhat
by the existing development (road network, car park and existing hospital building).
The Conservation Officer considers that the proposed student accommodation is
related to the hospital in use and would be appropriate to its setting. The building
would be set on lower level land than the chapel and would appear subservient to the
existing hospital building. The loss of woodland at some distance from the chapel
would have no more than a limited impact on the setting of the listed building.
10.37 Para 184 of the NPPF acknowledges the importance of heritage assets and states
that ‘these are irreplaceable resources, and should be conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to
the quality of life of existing and future generations.’ The proposed development
would result in less than substantial harm (at the lower end of the scale) to the setting
of listed chapel. Para 196 of the NPPF states that ‘where a development proposal will
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset,
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.’ In this case,
it is considered that the public benefits of the proposal, including helping to increase
the number of trained medical staff in order to contribute to the future resilience of the
NHS, outweigh the less than substantial harm identified.
10.38 The site lies within an area of Prehistoric potential, including evidence of Mesolithic
and Iron Age activity similar to that discovered on the A21 highway scheme. The site
is also close to the former Tonbridge Union Workhouse. The KCC Archaeological
Officer states that there are no indications of significant archaeology. It is considered
that archaeological matters can be dealt with by condition.
Residential amenity

Page 48

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

10.39 The proposed student accommodation would be sited within the hospital complex.
There are no existing residential properties that would be impacted by the proposed
development.
10.40 A Noise Survey has been submitted with the application, which identifies the primary
source of noise as being from the plant associated with the existing hospital
buildings. Towards the north-east end of the site, traffic noise is also evident from the
A228. The residential accommodation would be ventilated via a Mechanical
Ventilation Heat Recovery system and therefore external noise ingress should not
exceed the internal noise criteria set out within BS 8233:2014.
10.41 The Noise Survey concludes that vibration from existing sources should not be a
problem. There is an existing biomass boiler and flue located adjacent to the northern
elevation of the existing hospital building. The outlet for the flue is higher than the
existing eight storey hospital building, which ensures that any fumes do not interfere
with windows. The proposed student accommodation would be lower in height than
the existing building and flue, and would not be impacted by this flue.
10.42 The proposed air source heat pumps would be screened by fencing and fitted with
acoustic attenuation to minimise their impact on the residential accommodation. The
air source heat pumps would be sited approximately 74m away from the closest
bedroom window. The proposal would also not be impacted by the existing sewage
pumping station (vibration, noise or odour), which is located further to the south-east
than the proposed air source heat pumps.
10.43 The Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the scheme on noise,
vibration or odour grounds. Details of noise mitigation measures will be secured by
condition. The proposal would provide an acceptable level of residential amenity for
future occupants and therefore complies with Policy EN1 of the Local Plan.
Ecology
10.44 The site is located approximately 88m away from a Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI) (Pembury Cutting and Pit), which is located to the west of the site. This SSSI
is designated for its geological interest only. The proposed development would have
no impact on this SSSI. The nearest site of ecological interest is the Pembury Walks
Local Wildlife Site which surrounds the hospital and is about 40m from the site. The
Tudeley Woods RSPB Reserve is also located approximately 50m to the north. The
site is heavily treed. There is woodland directly to the north of the site. The ancient
woodland boundary is over 50 metres away from the site. Ancient woodland
surrounds the wider hospital site.
10.45 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Interim Ecological Assessment have been
submitted with the application. The proposed development would not be harmful to
areas of ancient woodland that surround the site. Much of the site is classified as a
Habitat of Principal Importance ‘(HPI) deciduous woodland’ listed under Section 41 of
the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities Act 2006. The proposal would
result in the loss/detrimental impact to an HPI and consideration to the mitigation
hierarchy to avoid, mitigate, compensate is therefore required. The NHS Trust has
considered other sites, but this is the only site deemed suitable to deliver the
proposed student accommodation. The proposed building has been designed to
minimise its overall footprint (being six storeys high), this helps to reduce its impact
on trees and other habitats. The proposal would result in the loss of a large number
of trees, which is regrettable and will be discussed in further detail below.
10.46 The proposal seeks to enhance biodiversity on site by:

Page 49

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
-

Installation of bat, bird and hedgehog boxes
0.11ha amenity grassland
0.05ha of broad leaved woodland will be created
Green wall with planters
Green roof over south-east wing of the building
0.06ha of mixed scrub
Two additional hedgerow

10.47 In addition, the following off-site habitat creation is proposed:
- 0.03ha of amenity grassland will be enhanced into broadleaved woodland.
- 0.4ha coniferous woodland enhanced.
- 16 new street trees
10.48 Further details of ecological mitigation and enhancement will be required by
condition. The applicant has demonstrated that the scheme would result in a net gain
for biodiversity (+16.07% habitat units and +445.73% hedgerow units) and therefore
complies with Para 170 of the NPPF.
10.49 There are existing bat and dormice boxes on site. The dormice boxes have been
subject to annual inspections between 2008 and 2018, which found no presence of
dormice. A dormouse survey conducted in close proximity to the site in 2019 also
produced a null result. The species are considered absent from the area. It is likely
that these boxes were put up as part of mitigation for hospital development. Natural
England has confirmed that the previous licences for this area have expired and
therefore no longer have any obligations associated with them. The relocation of
these boxes to a more suitable location within the hospital grounds is therefore
acceptable. The removal of bat and dormouse boxes is a licensable activity and
inspection of the boxes must be conducted by a suitably experienced and licensed
ecologist.
10.50 A bat mitigation roost was previously constructed in close proximity to the site. Bat
transect and static detector surveys are being carried out on site between May and
October 2021 (one survey per month). The May survey found that the site is used by
a low number of common pipistrelle and noctule bats and very low numbers of
Nathusius pipistrelle bats. The applicant’s ecologist states that it is highly unlikely that
a bat maternity roost of any species is using the site for the purposes of roosting,
foraging or commuting. The applicant’s ecologist recommends that the biodiversity
enhancement scheme includes increased roosting opportunities for the bats through
the installation of additional bat boxes within the adjacent woodlands, a wildlife
friendly planting scheme and sensitive external lighting strategy.
10.51 Trees T41 and T47 were initially assessed as having ‘Moderate’ suitability to support
roosting bats and are affected by the proposal. There are also a number of bat boxes
on trees within the site. To determine the presence/likely absence of roosting bats,
an elevated endoscopic survey was carried out in June 2021. All features previously
recorded were deemed unsuitable for use by bats. No further consideration to bats
within the trees is required at this stage. Should evidence of bats be found then a
licence would be required from Natural England.
10.52 No evidence of badgers or reptiles has been found on site.
10.53 The site has potential for nesting birds. It is recommended that any clearance of
nesting habitat is undertaken outside of the core breeding period for birds late
February to August inclusive. If this is not possible, a thorough search of nesting
birds should be conducted by a suitably experienced ecologist prior to the start of

Page 50

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

works. Should evidence of nesting birds be recorded, works within 5m of the nest or
works that have potential to destroy the nest should stop until the eggs have hatched
and the chicks fledged.
10.54 The proposal would result in the loss of a large number of trees and ecological
habitat. However, the key trees are proposed to be retained (see below). The
proposal has demonstrated a net gain for biodiversity. Details of biodiversity
mitigation and enhancement can be secured by condition. Details of external lighting
can also be secured by condition, to minimise harm to wildlife, including bats and the
adjacent Local Wildlife Site and RSPB Reserve.
Impact on trees
10.55 The north-east boundary of the site (which contains the servicing area) is located
approximately 50 metres away from an area of ancient woodland and approximately
20 metres away from the 30 metre ancient woodland buffer zone. The proposed
student accommodation would be set further away from the ancient woodland and
separated from the ancient woodland to the north-west by the existing car park. The
proposal would not be harmful to ancient woodland that surrounds the hospital site.
10.56 The Tree Protection Plan shows the best specimens (oaks T8, T71 and T72) retained
and integrated into the scheme. Following comments from the Tree Officer, the
building has been relocated approximately 250mm to the west, away from T66
(mature chestnut). An updated Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection
Plan have been submitted, which show that T25 and T66 to be retained.
10.57 The proposal involves substantial tree loss, primarily within a stand of early
mature/mature sweet chestnuts, which have been assessed as category B trees.
These trees are collectively attractive and being situated near a staff picnic area and
woodland footpath has considerable amenity value, though only from within the site.
Given their age, species and location they are likely to have moderate ecological
value as individuals though higher as a group. The proposal would result in
substantial tree loss, which is regrettable; however, it is considered that the benefits
of the development, in combination with a comprehensive replanting scheme to
compensate for tree loss outweigh the harm identified. Further details of proposed
landscaping scheme can be required by condition.
Flood risk and drainage
10.58 The site falls within Flood Zone 1, which is an area at low risk of flooding. A Flood
Risk Assessment Addendum has been submitted with the application. The proposal
would increase the amount of impermeable surfacing on site by 2,200m2. A sedum
roof is proposed on the main building and porous paving is proposed in the
surrounding pedestrian areas. The scheme proposes to use infiltration techniques for
the terraced planting areas and porous paving areas. The residual surface water runoff would be stored and attenuated on site before discharging into the nearby stream
so that no surface water run-off would enter into a surface water sewer.
10.59 The proposed run-off from the roofs would be drained by gravity to a tanked porous
sub base. The surface water run off would be stored in a bespoke reinforced
concrete water retaining structure and attenuated using a hydro-brake, prior to
entering into the existing surface water sewer network on site. The peak surface
water run-off discharge would be restricted to a maximum of 3.71l/s for the 1 in 100
year store event plus 40% climate change.

Page 51

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

10.60 It would be necessary to divert the existing 300mm diameter sewer from the adjacent
car park, into which it is proposed to connect the attenuated flow from part of this
development.
10.61 Southern Water confirms that there is sufficient capacity within the existing foul sewer
network to accommodate the development. No objection is raised to the development
by Southern Water or the Lead Local Flood Authority. The proposed development
would not result in an increased flood risk on or off site. The proposed development
would also not be harmful to water quality. Further details of foul and surface water
drainage can be secured by condition.
Renewable energy and sustainability
10.62 The Council’s Renewable Energy Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2006
recommends a fabric first approach and then a 10% reduction in carbon dioxide
emissions using renewable energy technologies. This SPD is now dated and in light
of the Council’s declaration of a Climate Energy, the Council have produced an
Energy Position Statement, which seeks a more ambitious approach to reducing
carbon dioxide emissions.
10.63 A Renewable Energy Assessment has been submitted with the application. The
development proposes a fabric first approach that has resulted in a 32% reduction in
the heating and cooling demand of the building, through the use of air source heat
pumps, natural ventilation with heat recovery, mechanical ventilation heat recovery
and efficient lighting controls. The scheme proposes 300m2 of photovoltaic panels,
which will enable the proposed scheme to further reduce CO2 emissions by 20%.
This would exceed the current and emerging policy requirements (15% set out in
Policy EN3 of the Regulation 19 Local Plan).
10.64 The proposal seeks to achieve BREEAM Excellent standard, through a highly
insulated building fabric, use of LED lighting, lighting controls, air source heat pumps
to provide hearting and hot water and over 300m2 of photovoltaic panels on the roof
to provide renewable energy. The scheme also seeks to provide cycle storage
facilities to promote sustainable transport measures.
10.65 The proposal seeks to provide a high quality, energy efficient building that would
exceed current policy requirements in regard to renewable energy, which is
supported by the Local Planning Authority.
Other Matters
10.66 Para 64 of the NPPF confirms that student accommodation is exempt from providing
affordable housing. The proposal therefore complies with affordable housing policy
and no associated Section 106 agreement is required.
10.67 In order to accommodate the proposed air source heat pumps and electricity
transformer, the existing garages adjacent to the service road in the south east
corner of the site will be relocated to the opposite side of the service road adjacent to
the existing pumping station. The two single-storey garages would remain in the
service compound area, adjacent to existing structures. Their relocation would have
a negligible impact on the landscape character of the locality and would not impact
existing trees. They would be sited on an existing area of grass and would not impact
biodiversity.
10.68 The proposed building would be sited over 40m away from the existing oxygen tanks,
in order to minimise the risk of any explosion. The site was not considered to have
any potential for unexploded World War II bombs.

Page 52

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

10.69 The development would be under a commercial refuse collection service and not
come under TWBC domestic waste. The hospital facilities team use small flatbed
vehicles to collect the refuse from bin stores and move it to the main collection point.
The proposed service road provides access to a new bin store containing 3 no. 1100
litre refuse and 3 nos. 1100 litre recycle bins. The bin storage/collection
arrangements are considered to be acceptable.
10.70 The scheme seeks to increase the length of the woodland path and provide outdoor
amenity space for future residents. The site is also well located in relation to PROW,
that future residents can use for recreational purposes.
10.71 A preliminary site investigation has been undertaken which indicates the presence of
contamination on site, notably PAH and asbestos. The report recommends additional
investigation in order to inform the development of a remediation strategy and this
information can be secured by condition.
Conclusion
10.72 The proposed student accommodation and learning hub seeks to meet a national
government objective to increase the number of qualified medical professionals in an
area where there is an identified shortfall of doctors. The proposal contributes
towards the future resilience of the NHS. There are specific benefits to the
accommodation and teaching space being located within the hospital grounds,
including sustainability, attracting students to the course and avoiding pressure on
surrounding housing stock. The proposal would also make a valuable contribution
towards meeting the Council’s five year housing land supply. In this case, there are
deemed ‘very special circumstances’ to outweigh the harm that a new building would
cause to the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal would harm the landscape
character of the locality and the setting of the AONB. It would result in the loss of
existing trees and habitat, which is regrettable. However, this harm would be
localised. The proposed building has been well designed and would appear
subservient to the existing hospital building. It would also be largely screened from
outside of the site by the existing development and surrounding woodland. Additional
tree planting/soft landscaping and biodiversity enhancement measures are proposed
to mitigate the harm to the landscape. The proposed development would result in
less than substantial harm (at the lower end of the scale) to the setting of listed
chapel. The benefits of the proposed development outweigh the harm identified. The
proposal directly contributes to meeting the need for additional medical school places
in the area, where there is an identified shortfall of doctors.
11.0

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

1)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2)

The permission shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
-

0120/P18: Proposed Site Plan
0121/P6: Proposed External Works Plan
0130/P5: Proposed Plans
0131/P2: Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Page 53

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
-

0132/P2: Proposed First Floor Plan
0133/P2: Proposed Second, Third & Fourth Floor Plans
0134/P2: Proposed Fifth Floor Plan
0135/P2: Proposed Roof Plan
0140/P6: Proposed SE & NW Elevations and Section BB
0141/P7: Proposed SW & NE Elevations and Section AA
0142/P4: Proposed Section AA
0143/P4: Proposed SE & NW Elevations & Section BB
0144/P3: Proposed North West Elevation
0145/P3: Proposed South West Elevation
0146/P4: Proposed North East Elevation
0147/P1: Existing and Proposed Plant Elevations
0148/P1: Existing Garages Plans & Elevations
692-100: Planting Strategy Plan

Reason: To clarify which plans are approved
3)

The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the
site have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority:
1) A site investigation to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to
all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
2) A remediation method statement (RMS) based on the site investigation results and
the detailed risk assessment. This should give full details of the remediation
measures required and how they are to be undertaken. The RMS should also include
a verification plan to detail the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that
the works set out in the RMS are complete and identifying any requirements for
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for
contingency action.
3) A Closure Report is submitted upon completion of the works. The closure report
shall include full verification details. This should include details of any post
remediation sampling and analysis, together with documentation certifying quantities
and source/destination of any material brought onto or taken from the site. Any
material brought onto the site shall be certified clean.
Any changes to these components require the express consent of the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented as approved.
Reason: This information is required prior to commencement of the development, to
ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

4)

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing
how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be
implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site.

Page 54

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
5)

Prior to the commencement of the development, details of the proposed means of
foul sewerage disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. The works shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority
Reason: Such details are fundamental to the application and are therefore required
prior to its commencement to ensure adequate foul drainage infrastructure for the
development and to avoid pollution of the surrounding area.

6)

Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed sustainable surface water
drainage scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the
Flood Risk Assessment and the Drainage Strategy Rev F3 prepared by ctp dated 11
March 2021 and shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this
development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate
change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of
without increase to flood risk on or off-site.
The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published guidance):
• that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to
ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.
• appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each
drainage feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any
proposed arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory
undertaker.
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate
the risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are
required prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part
of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out
of the rest of the development.

7)

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Verification Report,
pertaining to the surface water drainage system and prepared by a suitably
competent person, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate that the drainage system
constructed is consistent with that which was approved. The Report shall contain
information and evidence (including photographs) of details and locations of inlets,
outlets and control structures; landscape plans; full as built drawings; information
pertinent to the installation of those items identified on the critical drainage assets
drawing; and, the submission of an operation and maintenance manual for the
sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.
Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters,
property and ecological systems.

8)

Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or
successors in title, will secure and implement:
i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local

Page 55

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

Planning Authority; and
ii) further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by the
results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable which has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
Reason: This information is required prior to commencement of the development, to
ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded.
9)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of external
materials specified in the application, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

10)

Prior to the first occupation of the residential accommodation hereby approved, the
noise mitigation measures detailed in the noise assessment shall be incorporated
into the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure that suitable acoustic standards are met in the residential
accommodation.

11)

Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details of external lighting shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This scheme
shall avoid excess lighting at the site boundaries and adjacent to trees/hedgerows in
order to reduce disturbance to bats, birds and invertebrates. The scheme shall also
take note of and refer to the Institute of Lighting Engineers Guidance Notes for the
Reduction of Obtrusive Lighting Guidance Note 1 dated 2020 (and any subsequent
revisions) and shall include a layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of
light equipment proposed (luminaire type; mounting height; aiming angles and
luminaire profiles) and an ISO lux plan showing light spill. The scheme of lighting
shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved scheme,
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and wildlife from
light pollution.

12)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Method Statement and in such a manner as to avoid damage to the existing trees,
including their root systems, and other planting to be retained by observing the
following:
(a) All trees to be preserved shall be marked on site and protected during any
operation on site by temporary fencing in accordance with BS 5837:2012, and in
accordance with the Tree Protection Plan (drawing number
J21026_P2_Arb_TPP_A), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such tree protection measures shall remain throughout the period of
construction
(b) No fires shall be lit within the spread of branches or upwind of the trees and other
vegetation;
(c) No materials or equipment shall be stored within the spread of the branches or
Root Protection Areas of the trees or other vegetation;
(d) No roots over 50mm diameter shall be cut, and no buildings, roads or other
engineering operations shall be constructed or carried out within the spread of the
branches or Root Protection Areas of the trees and other vegetation;

Page 56

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

(e) Ground levels within the spread of the branches or Root Protection Areas
(whichever the greater) of the trees and other vegetation shall not be raised or
lowered in relation to the existing ground level, except as may be otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(f) No trenches for underground services shall be commenced within the Root
Protection Areas of trees which are identified as being retained in the approved
plans, or within 5m of hedgerows shown to be retained without the prior written
consent of the Local Planning Authority. Such trenching as might be approved
shall be carried out to National Joint Utilities Group recommendations.
Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and
locality.
13)

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme to
provide or link into an existing, safe, secure and lit non-motorised user access from
the existing bus stops to the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter it shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved scheme, prior to the first occupation of the
development and maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development and to ensure the safe passage
and well-being of users of the development.

14)

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the cycle storage
facilities shall be provided in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle storage shall thereafter
be retained.
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development.

15)

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a detailed Travel
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
(who shall consult with Highways England) and implemented. The Travel Plan shall
include arrangements for monitoring, review, amendment and effective enforcement.
Thereafter, the Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (or any successors) and any
businesses occupying any part of the development shall be responsible individually
and severally for the monitoring, review, amendment and effective enforcement of the
approved Travel Plan in perpetuity.
Reason: To minimise traffic generated by the development and to ensure that the
A21Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national system of routes for
through traffic.

16)

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a Parking Strategy
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (who
shall consult Highways England). Thereafter the Parking Strategy shall be
implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with the approved document in
perpetuity.
Reason: To minimise traffic generated by the development and to ensure that the A21
Trunk Road continues to be an effective part of the national system of routes for
through traffic.

17)

Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, prior to the commencement of above
ground works, details of hard and soft landscaping and a programme for carrying out

Page 57

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

the works shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The
submitted scheme shall include details of hard landscape works, including hard
surfacing materials; street furniture and details of soft landscape works, including
planting plans, written specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with the plant and grass establishment) and schedules of plants, noting
species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate. The
landscaping scheme shall be carried out fully within 12 months of the completion of the
development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any
trees or other plants which, within a period of ten years from the completion of the
development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority give prior written consent to any variation.
Reason: In order to protect and enhance the amenity of the area and biodiversity.
18)

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the ecological mitigation measures
set out within Section 6 of the Interim Ecological Assessment.
Reason: In the interests of protected species.

19)

Prior to the commencement of above ground works, a detailed ecological
enhancement plan to demonstrate that the scheme can achieve a net gain for
biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The ecological enhancement measures shall be implemented prior to the
first occupation of the development hereby approved or in accordance with a timetable
set out within the submission, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

20)

Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure appropriate landscape and ecological management.

21)

Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details of the installation of fixed
telecommunication infrastructure and High-Speed Fibre Optic connections for the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The infrastructure shall be installed in accordance with the approved details,
prior to the first occupation of the development.
Reason: To provide high quality digital infrastructure in new developments.

22)

The measures to reduce the heating and cooling demand for the building and use of
renewable energy technologies (as detailed in the Renewable Energy Assessment),
shall be implemented in full, prior to first occupation of the development hereby
approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of sustainability.
INFORMATIVES

1)

Your attention is drawn to the Mid Kent Environmental Code of Development
Practice, the terms of which should be met in carrying out the development.

Page 58

Agenda Item 7(B)

Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

2)

The non-motorised user access scheme shall be in compliance with Manual for
Streets design guidance.

3)

The Travel Plan shall include details of the arrangements to be put in place to
manage the arrival and departure of students moving into or out of the permitted
accommodation. The Travel Plan should also include details of how it will work
alongside the conditioned Parking Strategy. The Travel Plan should nest into, be
coordinated with and compliant with, an over-arching and up-to-date Travel Plan
Framework covering the whole hospital site.

Case Officer: Antonia James
NB

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Ref No 21/00797/FULL

Construction of a new 145-bedroom purpose-built student accommodation, academic learning
hub and ancillary plant and services along with associated landscaping, access, parking,
cycle/bin storage and other works.
ADDRESS: Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, The Tunbridge Wells Hospital,
Tonbridge Road, Pembury, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 4QJ

Condition Summary
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)

Implementation Condition
Approved Plans
Contamination
Contamination
Foul Sewerage Disposal
Surface Water Drainage
Verification Report
Archaeology
External Materials
Noise
External Lighting
Arboricultural Method Statement
Scheme to provide or link into an existing, safe, secure and lit non-motorised user
access from the existing bus stops to the development
Cycle Storage
Travel Plan
Parking Strategy
Landscaping
Protected Species
Ecological Enhancement Plan
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
Fixed Telecommunication Infrastructure and High-Speed Fibre Optic
Renewable Energy Technologies

Page 61

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021

Site Location Plan - TN2 4QJ

Page 62

Appendix A
Planning Committee
23 June 2021

Block Plan

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

APPEAL DECISIONS for noting
22/05/2021–14/06/2021

1. 20/01616/FULL

Erection of 2 new build detached dwellings
APPEAL: DISMISSED (24.05.21)
Land south of Stockland Green Road
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

2. 20/01998/FULL

Demolition of existing disused garage buildings;
erection of sunken single storey detached
courtyard dwelling with green sedum roof,
landscaping, parking and turning area using
existing access onto Cromwell Road
APPEAL: ALLOWED (28.05.21)
Land rear of 35-37 Cromwell Road
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

3. 20/02284/FULL

Change of use of a garage to florists workroom
(Retrospective)
APPEAL: DISMISSED (28.05.21)
21A Broadwater Down
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

4. 20/01967/FULL

Single storey extension of workshop outbuilding to
incorporate a 2 bay garage, cycle store and
annexe
APPEAL: ALLOWED (07.06.21)
Deepwell
Poundsbridge Lane
Penshurst
(Delegated)

Page 65

Agenda Item 8
Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
5. 20/02181/FULL

Demolition of existing shed; Proposed two storey
side extension forming garage at ground floor and
2 no. additional bedrooms at first floor
APPEAL: DISMISSED (07.06.21)
13A Broadwater Down
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

6. 20/01949/FULL

Demolition of existing garage and erection of
detached bungalow
APPEAL: DISMISSED (07.06.21)
Land west of Kingsmead Park
Church Road
Paddock Wood
(Delegated)

7. 20/00307/FULL

Demolition of existing single storey
building/conservatory and erection of a single
storey studio flat with associated hard and soft
landscaping
APPEAL: DISMISSED (09.06.21)
309 Upper Grosvenor Road
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

8. 20/02797/OUT

Outline Application (Access not reserved) Erection of a single storey dwelling
APPEAL: DISMISSED (09.06.21)
Land rear of 1-10 Highgate Hill
Hawkhurst
(Delegated)

9. 20/01287/FULL

Demolition of existing house and erection of a
terrace of four dwellings
APPEAL A: ALLOWED (10.06.21)
22 Windmill Street

Page 66

Agenda Item 8
Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

10. 20/01288/FULL

Demolition of existing house and erection of a
terrace of three dwellings
APPEAL B: ALLOWED (10.06.21)
22 Windmill Street
Tunbridge Wells
(Delegated)

11. 20/03273/FULL

Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and
erection of two new semi-detached dwellings
APPEAL: DISMISSED (11.06.21)
3 Queens Gardens
Tunbridge Wells
(Committee)

12. 20/01057/FULL

Demolition and removal of an existing
dwellinghouse, other existing buildings and areas
of hard-standings last used as part of a
commercial dog kennels; replacement with 1 No.
single storey dwellinghouse with associated
landscaping, car parking facilities, partial infilling
works to pond (retrospective) and creation of a
new vehicular access (part retrospective)
APPEAL: DISMISSED (11.06.21)
The Knowle, Former Brenchley Kennels
Knowle Road
Brenchley
(Delegated)

13. 20/01380/FULL

Formation of 3 apartments at lower ground floor
level
APPEAL: DISMISSED (14.06.21)
Pennington Manor
Vicarage Road
Southborough

Page 67

Agenda Item 8
Planning Committee Report
23 June 2021

(Delegated)

Page 68

Agenda Item 9

Urgent Business
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be
stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page

1 of 1

Page 69

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Urgent Business

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Date of the Next Meeting
For Planning Committee on Wednesday 23 June 2021

Procedural Item
To note that the next scheduled meeting is Wednesday 21 July 2021.

Page

1 of 1

Page 71

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Date of the Next Meeting

This page is intentionally left blank

